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Haegue Yang, Pepper Sheets Composition (detail), 2019
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Mission
STPI seeks to develop Singapore as a leading 
player in the contemporary art world by 
collaborating with top international artists in 
unique, ground-breaking projects. Through 
its artist collaborations, artworks, exhibitions 
and public programmes, STPI engages both 
international and local art communities, 
with the aim of inspiring and developing an 
appreciation of print and paper art practice.

Vision
STPI is a global leader in contemporary art 
practice with print and paper, creating unique 
and quality artworks in collaboration with 
leading artists from around the world.

STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020

Free Beer (detail), 2016

STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020

5

INTRODUCTION



Core Values 

CREATIVE & 
DIVERSE

COLLABORATIVE  
& NURTURING

BOLD & 
DYNAMIC
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Susan Kong 
Chairman, STPI 
 

Chair’s Foreword
STPI was birthed from an ambition of placing Singapore 

in the international art scene, particularly in the field 

of printmaking. Since its establishment in 2002, STPI’s 

enduring spirit of creativity, innovation, and its unique 

collaborations with leading local and international artists 

and art institutions and organisations, have resulted in the 

creation and showcasing of remarkable works of art in print 

and paper. This has propelled it to great heights, cementing 

STPI’s position as a homegrown art institution of significant 

global standing. 

Our gallery and Workshop model continues to remain 

unique, not only to the region but to the rest of the world. 

In the creative space, STPI Workshop has evolved from 

producing excellent printmaking to an elevated dimension 

of developing proprietary cutting-edge techniques in the 

production of unique artworks on and with paper. This 

has earned STPI’s works a place in the collections of many 

private patrons and renowned international art institutions, 

including the Museum of Modern Art (MoMA), New York; 

Philadelphia Museum of Art; Mori Art Museum, Tokyo; 21st 

Century Museum of Contemporary Art, Kanazawa; Benesse 

Foundation, Naoshima; M+ Museum, Hong Kong; Sherman 

Contemporary Foundation, Australia; National Gallery 

Singapore and Singapore Art Museum, among others. 

This dedication to excellence and skill has attracted and 

continues to attract many significant artists from all parts 

of the world to collaborate with us through our Visiting 

Artists Programme. 

As the first gallery from Singapore and Southeast Asia to 

have been consistently accepted into all three Art Basel fairs 

since 2014, STPI has once again placed Singapore on the 

world map this year by being the first Singaporean gallery to 

be a part of Frieze London. This has allowed us to continue 

spotlighting exceptional works of art by local artists on 

distinguished international platforms. Our great success at 

our maiden presence in Frieze London where we showcased 

beautiful works of Do Ho Suh created in STPI’s workshop, 

best encapsulates all the best achievements of STPI to date.

In conjunction with Singapore Art Week this January, STPI 

successfully organised the second edition of S.E.A. Focus, a 

curated platform of works of Southeast Asian artists from 

twenty leading galleries across the region and beyond. 

Building on its experience and continued presence in 

the international art scene, as well as the synergies of its 

artists and galleries collaborations, STPI hopes to develop 

Singapore as a meeting point for encountering, showcasing 

and collecting contemporary Southeast Asian Art. 

As we entered into 2020, where all and every aspects of our 

lives are disrupted by the global pandemic, the art world has 

not been spared. At this very moment, STPI is working harder 

than ever to meet these challenges, finding innovative ways 

to continue creating artworks with local and international 

artists. On the gallery front, we are continuing to adapt 

to how we engage with our collectors and have already 

embarked on many new initiatives to face the digital turn. 

Our achievements would not have been possible without the 

tremendous support and encouragement of all our friends 

and stakeholders, especially the tireless Friends of STPI, our 

generous donors, all the artists and galleries whom we have 

collaborated with, and most of all the great team at STPI. 

With your continued support, I am confident that STPI will 

emerge stronger and will be able the scale greater heights 

with confidence, resilience and enthusiasm. 
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Emi Eu 
Executive Director, STPI 

Executive  
Director’s Message

Towards the end of each fiscal year, we are beckoned to look back in order to look 

forward. As STPI enters its 18th year, it remains an immensely crucial exercise for us to 

reflect on how far we have come as an organisation, both within and beyond the shores 

of Singapore. 

This has been a year of critical significance – STPI received a record number of visitors, 

spanning six solo exhibitions with trailblazers in the international contemporary art 

scene such as Takashi Murakami, Melati Suryodarmo, and Genevieve Chua. On top of this, 

we spearheaded numerous opportunities for art education by conducting hundreds of 

hands-on workshops and outreach events for over sixty primary and secondary schools, 

universities, associations and institutions. Our most notable participants included 

Nanyang Academy of Fine Arts, the Asian Women’s Welfare Association, National Gallery 

Singapore, Tan Tock Seng Hospital, and the Singapore Teachers’ Academy for Arts. 

As a contemporary art gallery, we have grown to become an integral player in the global 

arts ecosystem. From being a stalwart participant of Frieze London, FIAC International 

Contemporary Art Fair in Paris, and all renditions of Art Basel to the successful 

organisation of the second edition of S.E.A. Focus, I am proud and humbled to witness, 

and be a part of, our fruitful elevation of print and paper practices in the field of art. It 

is with gratitude and fondness that I thank our Board and MCCY who have helped us 

realise these dreams; without their support and guidance, none of this would have been 

possible. We look to strengthen our spirit of collaboration and exchange, our culture of 

nurturance and diversity – values upon which our institution is built, and values that will 

guide our posture in the face of challenges and opportunities that lie ahead.
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Chapter 2 abOuT ThE
OrgaNiSaTiON

10

ABOUT THE ORGANISATIONSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



STPI is a dynamic creative workshop and contemporary art 
gallery based in Singapore. Established in 2002, STPI is a 
non-profit organisation committed to promoting artistic 
experimentation in the mediums of print and paper and 
has become one of the most cutting-edge destinations 
for contemporary art in Asia. STPI sits alongside National 
Gallery Singapore and the Singapore Art Museum as part 
of the national Visual Arts Cluster of leading institutions 
in the region.
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Ms Susan Kong

Ms Susan Kong serves as the Chairman of 

STPI. She is a founding partner of Q.E.D. 

Law Corporation. She has extensive working 

experience in banking and finance, corporate 

finance, foreign investments particularly in 

China, Indonesia and Thailand; mergers and 

acquisitions, restructuring and real estate 

Chair

BOARD MEMBERS

investments. She is listed in several legal 

publications as a leading lawyer. Ms Kong has 

also served as a director on the boards of 

several companies across different industries 

in Singapore and Thailand. She is currently an 

independent director of SBS Transit Limited and 

a board member of HealthServe Limited.

Ms Chong Siak Ching is the Chief Executive 

Officer of National Gallery Singapore and Head 

of the Visual Arts Cluster (VAC) Singapore since 

April 2013. The VAC comprises the Singapore 

Art Museum, STPI - Creative Workshop & 

Gallery and the National Gallery Singapore. 

Prior to this, she was the President and CEO of 

Ascendas since 2001, and was recognised as 

‘Outstanding CEO of the Year’ in the Singapore 

Business Awards 2009 for her leadership and 

dynamism in establishing Ascendas as Asia’s 

leading provider of business space.

Ms Chong Siak Ching

She is currently Chairperson of the Singapore 

Note and Coin Advisory Committee, Director 

on the Board of Singapore Press Holdings and 

Mandai Park Holdings Pte Ltd. She sits on the 

Board of the National Arts Council, she is a 

member of the Advisory Board at Nanyang 

Business School and a member of the Yale-

NUS Governing Board.

She is Singapore’s Non-Resident Ambassador 

to the Republic of Chile.
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Mr Kenneth Choe

Mr. Kenneth Choe is an Executive Director of Goldman Sachs 

Singapore in the Investment Management Division for over 

25 years.  In his capacity as a Private Wealth Advisor,  he 

is responsible for providing wealth and risk management 

planning focusing on ultra-high net worth families and 

family offices.  He served on the board of Singapore Art 

Museum (SAM) for over 6 years and was also Chairman of 

the acquisition committee during his tenure.

Kenneth continues to serve as a member of the acquisition 

committee for SAM.

Mr Low Eng Teong was trained as a visual artist 

and graduated from art schools in New Zealand 

and Australia. He holds a Masters in Art and 

Art Education from Teachers College, Columbia 

University. Low joined the education service from 

1995 and served as a teacher, senior curriculum 

Mr Low Eng Teong

specialist and principal of a secondary school. 

He joined the National Arts Council (NAC) as 

Director, Visual Arts Sector Development in 2015. 

He is currently the Assistant Chief Executive for 

Sector Development (Arts) in NAC.
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Mr Irving Low is a partner in KPMG in Singapore. 

He has been with KPMG for over 27 years, having 

worked in both the London and Singapore offices.

He is the Co-Head of Advisory (Singapore and 

Indonesia). As the Co-Head of Advisory (Singapore 

and Indonesia), he is responsible for the Advisory 

businesses and practices across Management 

Consulting, Risk Consulting as well as Deals 

Advisory, where the focus is on corporate finance, 

mergers and acquisition. Irving also sits in the firm’s 

Senior Executive Committee which oversees the 

firm’s strategic and operational excellence.

Irving‘s key area of practice is in Corporate 

Governance, where he is also the KPMG ASPAC 

Leader for Board Advisory Services. He has 

undertaken numerous corporate governance 

Mr Irving Low

reviews for both public and private organisations 

in light of the renewed focus in this area. He is 

a frequent invited guest and speaker at board 

meetings and presentations as well as public 

forums on corporate governance.

In addition, Irving is a member of the Institute of 

Singapore Chartered Accountants (ISCA) where 

is a member of the Governance Committee and 

the chairperson of CPA Australia Sub-committee 

for the Public Sector.

Mrs Wong Ai Ai is a principal at Baker & 

McKenzie.Wong & Leow, a Global Executive 

Committee at Baker & McKenzie, and a key 

lawyer in the Firm’s private equity and mergers 

and acquisitions practices. She also serves as 

the Chairman of the Yellow Ribbon Fund.

Mrs Wong Ai Ai

Mrs Wong graduated from the University of 

Kent (UK), with a B.A. in Law (First Class), and 

holds a Masters in Law from Harvard University 

Law School. She is admitted to practise in 

Singapore, New York, England and Wales 

(Grays Inn).
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Gordon Koh 
Assistant Project Leader  

& Senior Papermaker 

Oh Thiam Guan 
Assistant Project Leader  

& Senior Printer At-Large

Brian Garner 
Head of Workshop & Projects

Eng Joo Heng 
Senior Manager (Workshop)

CREATIVE

Miyuki Chida 
Senior Fabricator & Printer

Chong Li Sze 
Senior Printer

WORKSHOP

Awaluddin Masnor 
Papermaker

Tan Jun Yu 
Printer 
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Terry Wee 
Assistant Printer

Derrick Ng 
Assistant Printer

Edmund Chan 
Papermaker

Tan Tai Tien 
Senior Papermaker

Edmund Chan 
Papermaker

CREATIVE

Richard Phua 
Apprentice Papermaker

Tuan Szi Yi 
Executive (Imaging & Archiving)

Qamarul Asyraf 
Assistant Printer

WORKSHOP
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Rita Targui 
Director – STPI Gallery

Rachel Tan 
Assistant Manager 

(Content & Communications)

Aderyl Tan 
Assistant Manager  

(Education & Outreach)

Kong Yi Ling 
 Manager (Registrar & Sales)

GALLERY

Anathapindika 
Executive (Digital Marketing & Advertising)

Aiden Taufiq 
Executive (Sales & Admin)

Toni Cuhadi 
Senior Photographer
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Debby Lim 
Senior Manager (Projects & Operations)

Charmaine Ng 
Senior Executive (Projects & Operations)

SPECIAL 
PROJECTS

Ma Xiang Yao 
Assistant Manager (Finance)

Zuraifi Mohamed Saifollah 
Assistant Manager (Facilities & IT)

Tan Yee 
Head of Corporate Services

Stephanie Khew 
Manager (HR & Admin);  

PA to Executive Director

Wong Fuat Jun 
Executive (Finance & HR)

CORPORATE   
SERVICES
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The STPI Creative Workshop is a rigorous space 
for artists to experiment with various print and 
papermaking techniques.

Bolstered by specialised facilities and a highly 
qualified workshop team, STPI Creative Workshop 
produces unique collaborations with leading 
international artists to challenge conventions in 
art, explore new trajectories in their practice and 
share their experience with the public.

About STPI Creative Workshop

Artist
Collaborations
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Jane Lee

April 2019
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Jane Lee, AM IV (detail), 2017



Manuel Ocampo

April 2019
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If All You Are Is A Nail Then Everything  
Looks Like A Hammer Version 2 (detail), 2018
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Janice Kerbel

May 2019
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Zeng Fanzhi 

May 2019
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Do Ho Suh 

June 2019
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Do Ho Suh, Circuit Breaker, 348 West 22nd Street, 
Unit 2, New York, NY 10011, USA (detail), 2017
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Haegue Yang

August 2019
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Haegue Yang, Edibles – Cold Storage, Fresh Pick, Curry Leaves, 50g (detail), 2019
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Lee Bul

July 2019
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July 2019
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Prabhavathi 
Meppayil
August 2019
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Charles Lim

September 2019

38

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



September 2019
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Genevieve Chua

November 2019
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Genevieve Chua, Offscreen Kiss  (detail), 2019
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Sam Durant

December 2019

42

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



43

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



Rirkrit 
Tiravanija
January 2020
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STPI Gallery is an active platform that fosters the 
exchange of ideas in contemporary art with its diverse 
exhibitions and public programmes. The gallery hosts 
specially curated exhibitions of works produced in the 
STPI Creative Workshop and regularly participates in 
international fairs. This enables it to nurture and sustain 
local and international interest in both its collaborators 
and in the mediums of print and paper. The gallery’s 
public programmes aims to engage and broaden visitor 
understanding of contemporary art, while exchanges 
with a variety of international curators, collectors and 
gallerists provide a holistic experience for audiences on 
a global level.

About STPI Gallery

EXHIBITIONS
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23 Mar – 4 May 2019

An exhibition chronicling modes in which the dialectic 
between matter and creative intuition is perceived and 
processed through the artist’s personal language of 
abstraction. Through a rigorous experimentation in print and 
paper, Martin’s practice of abstract painting is reinvigorated 
by the processual nature of printmaking and the introduction 
of new material qualities.

Artist talk held between Jason Martin, Mark Gisbourne 
(critic and historian) and Greg Hilty (Curatorial Director, 
Lisson Gallery)

Panel discussion on the language of abstraction across 
disciplines, featuring poet Marc Nair, jazz musician Aya 
Sekine, visual artist Guo-Liang Tan and film researcher 
Toh Hun Ping, moderated by artist Jeremy Sharma 

A dance response, Before Stillness, in collaboration with 
independent Singapore-based performers Wendy Toh, 
Salif Hardie, art naming and Caroline Chin

Organised special tours for The French Association, Asian 
Women’s Welfare Assocation (AWWA), and Singapore’s 
Teacher’s Academy for Arts (STAR)

Q1

Jason Martin:  
Meta physical
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18 May – 22 Jun 2019

Responding to a global culture of image production and 
consumption in flux, Manuel Ocampo’s often chaotic 
and violent compositions present interactions between 
image-forms of a fragmented time and space, recalling 
the spectres of history, of painting, and of oneself. This 
distinct visual language was furthered at STPI, where 
Ocampo continued to employ symbols and iconography 
that straddled between accessibility and ambiguity. 

Artist talk: Manuel Ocampo speaks with Joyce 
Toh (Head of Content and Senior Curator, 
Singapore Art Museum)

Panel discussion on different “mash-up” aesthetics 
across the fields of design, architecture, literature 
and fine arts, featuring speakers Vikas Kailankaje, 
Elaine Chiew and Fyerool Darma, moderated by 
Melanie Pocock

Sunday Special in conjunction with Philippine 
Heritage Month: a performance by the Choreo 
Ethnic Tribal Dance Group, paired with an Arty 
Afternoon session

Q1

Manuel Ocampo: 
Ideological Mash-Up/
Remix
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13 Jul - 14 Sep 2019

From Superflat to Bubblewrap marks STPI’s most 
successful exhibition to date particularly regarding 
total number of visitors and increased brand awareness. 
The exhibition saw over 14,000 visitors during its run, 
of which over 80% were new audiences to the gallery. 
This was due to the popularity of acclaimed post-war 
Japanese artist Takashi Murakami, coupled with the fact 
that the exhibition was the first-ever major solo exhibition 
of the artist’s work in Southeast Asia. It was also an 
important presentation that highlighted a new direction 
in Murakami’s own practice, which introduced a strand 
of street culture and graffiti art to his oeuvre. Alongside 
works on paper, the artist debuted 8 new large-scale 
paintings at STPI that expanded on these ideas. 

A well-received and fully sold-out artist talk 
between the artist and Tobias Berger (Head of Arts, 
Tai Kwun) which attracted over 300 attendees

Accompanied by 5 film screenings, including 
Murakami’s feature film Jellyfish Eyes and cult-
favourite animes Akira and Ghost in the Shell 

Q3

Takashi  
Murakami:  
Superflat to Bubblewrap
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The exhibition boasted a fully Murakami-themed 
merchandise store, which attracted an extremely 
high sales volume for the artist’s official 
merchandise totalling 2,591 sold items

The exhibition garnered a total of 45 pieces of 
coverage across print, digital and broadcast 
channels, including prominent features in: The 
Straits Times, Lianhe Zaobao, The Business 
Times, Female Magazine Singapore, ICON 
Singapore, A-List, Straatosphere, Dewi Magazine 
and Hypebeast
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25 Sep – 3 Nov 2019Q3

 
Pinaree Sanpitak:  
Fragmented Bodies:  
The Personal & The Public
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In this exhibition, Thai artist Pinaree Sanpitak’s 
works presented themselves as a series of playful 
provocations that bridged a sustained exploration 
of print and paper techniques such as collagraphy, 
etching, monoprint and collage with new spatial 
and formal concerns. Resisting linear references to 
femininity, motherhood and religion, Sanpitak sought 
to draw viewers into sensorial and affective relations 
with her work. 

Featured the maze-like installation The Walls, first 
debuted at the Encounters section of Art Basel 
Hong Kong 2019

Artist talk held between the artist, Adele Tan 
(Senior Curator, National Gallery Singapore) and 
Vipash Purichanont (independent curator and 
lecturer at the Department of Art History, Faculty 
of Archaeology, Silpakorn University, Bangkok)
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23 Nov 2019  - 24 Jan 2020 

A solo presentation of a new body of print and paper 
works by seminal Indonesian artist, Melati Suryodarmo. 
A bold leap from her distinctively performance-based 
oeuvre, Suryodarmo’s new explorations in print and 
paper during her residency at STPI have resulted in a 
range of two- and three-dimensional works that retain 
traces of her performative marks. In particular, the artist 
examined the volatile relationship between matter and 
memory, and personal expressions of displacement. 

The screening of Kucumbu Tubuh Indahku 
(Memories of My Body), an award-winning 
Indonesian film, received positive responses by 
audiences; Before Sunrise and Before Sunset, 
acclaimed films in popular culture, were also 
screened, attracting high turnouts 

STPI Gallery hosted a lunch event for the artist 
in conjunction with the exhibition and Singapore 
Art Week in January 2020, inviting members and 
key industry leaders for an intimate lunch with 
the artist 

Q4

Melati Suryodarmo: 
Memento Mori
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22 Feb – 6 April 2020

The largest solo exhibition of the artist’s works to 
date, featuring new print-based works from her STPI 
residency and works from ongoing series in her studio 
practice. Central to the exhibition is Chua’s expanded 
idea of painting as a medium that occupies ‘two-and-
a-half dimensions’. “Twofold” is the artist’s exploration 
of fundamental questions of painting, particularly 
its perception and constituent materials. It arises not 
only from ideas of human vision and simulation, but 
experiences of interpretation which unfold over time.

Exhibition guest-curated by Melanie Pocock, 
Curator, Ikon Gallery, UK

In light of premature closure of exhibition due to 
the pandemic, STPI Gallery’s first 3600 panoramic 
virtual video of the exhibition was shared online, 
accompanied by a 15-minute guided tour 

Q4

Genevieve Chua: 
Twofold
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STPI Gallery collaborated with Librarie 
Marian Goodman, Paris, on a pop-up 
exhibition in their esteemed library, 
featuring prints by Richard Deacon, Kim 
Lim, Anri Sala and Rirkrit Tiravanija 

Pop-up exhibition listed on art media 
outlets such as MutualArt and Slash 
Magazine

Boosted by Marian Goodman Gallery’s 
press release of the event, which 
included a full description of STPI’s 
core identity and business
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ART FAIRS

56

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



13 – 16 June 2019

Art Basel’s Basel fair brought together stellar works 
by artists from five continents across the world, as 
part of a celebrated city-wide art week.

STPI highlighted new series of minimalistic pepper 
sheets by acclaimed artist Haegue Yang, along with 
works by Ryan Gander, Carsten Höller, Shirazeh 
Houshiary, Kim Lim, Jason Martin, Do Ho Suh and 
Pae White. 

Q1

Art Basel, Basel 
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2 – 6 Oct 2019Q3

In its debut participation at Frieze London, STPI 
showcased a solo presentation of works on paper by 
Do Ho Suh. 

In conjunction with the fair, STPI launched the milestone 
publication Do Ho Suh: Works on Paper at STPI at 
Victoria Miro Gallery – a sold-out event that attracted 
STPI’s top clients, VIP guests and key industry leaders.

Frieze London
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23 – 27 Oct 2019

Organised by the IFPDA, the Print Fair is the largest 
international art fair celebrating more than 500 years 
of printmaking. The 2019 edition was held at the Javits 
Center in New York. 

STPI presented a suite of contemporary print and paper 
works by artists including Alfredo & Isabel Aquilizan, 
Heman Chong, Shinro Ohtake, Tobias Rehberger and 
Rirkrit Tiravanija in its first-time participation at the fair.

Q3

IFPDA Fine Art Print 
Fair, New York
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5 – 8 Dec 2019

In Art Basel’s Miami Beach fair, leading galleries 
from North America, Latin America, Europe and Asia 
showed significant works from masters of Modern and 
contemporary art, as well as the new generation of 
emerging stars. 

STPI presented key works by artists Jason Martin, 
Aaron Curry and Do Ho Suh, as well as a new series of 
works by Haegue Yang, titled  Edibles.

Q3

Art Basel Miami Beach 
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S.E.A. Focus is a showcase of contemporary art from 
Southeast Asia. It aims to bring together a curated 
selection of some of the finest artists and galleries 
from across the region to foster a deeper appreciation 
of contemporary art and artists in Southeast Asia. 
A meeting point for artistic vision and vigour, S.E.A. 
Focus provides a platform to propel diverse cultural 
exchanges which celebrate, promote and provoke 
dialogue about Southeast Asian art.

16 – 19 Jan 2020Q4

S.E.A. Focus 
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PUBLIC
PROGRAMMES
& COMMUNITY
OUTREACH
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Titled All Roads Lead to Singapore! by the Museum Roundtable, 
this year’s Istana Art Event celebrates the Singapore 
Bicentennial by laying out key Singapore stories on the front 
lawn of the President’s residence.  

The Education & Outreach Team conducted ‘paper pulp play’, 
a spice papermaking workshop for the public that attracted a 
total of 236 participants

Istana Art Event 2019
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In this year’s Open House, we were inspired by the whimsical 
world of Takashi Murakami and his cast of unique and playful 
characters. Visitors were able to enjoy complimentary 
admission to our Annual Special Exhibition, Takashi 
Murakami: From Superflat to Bubblewrap, during the Open 
House weekend. STPI also offered complimentary door gifts 
(supported by MUJI), which were avaialble for early birds.

Over the course of the weekend, the Open House event 
attracted a total of 1,745 visitors

Besides complimentary stations where visitors could try their 
hands at fundamental print and papermaking techniques 
and collect stamps on designed stamp cards, we organised 
2 paid workshops, “Build-A-Character: Papermaking 
Workshop” and “Design, Carve, Print!: Linocut Workshop”, 
which attracted 89 pax and 70 pax respectively

Open House 2019:  
A Whimsical World

Sat – Sun
7 – 8 Sep

11am – 5pm

STPI 
Open House 
2019

67

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



68

HIGHLIGHTS & ACHIEVEMENTSSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



1. Limited to One card per visitor.
2. Please produce this card at the various stations.
3. Only one stamp will be awarded per station.
4. Each stamp entitles the group to only one 
 hands-on opportunity at each station.
5. STPI reserves the right to refuse hands-on activities 
 if participants fail to produce this card at the station.

SUPPORTED BY:
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11am – 5pm
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WWW.STPI.COM.SG • IG: STPI_GALLERY
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Open House Programme
Artist Studio

English Guided Tours
11.30am & 2pm � 45 Mins

Free � Onsite Registration
Join a guided tour to explore 

Murakami’s remarkable range of 
new works in the Gallery.

From Pulp to Paper
11am - 5pm � Free 

For All Ages � Drop-in-Activity
Get messy, get creative, get to 
learn about making your very 

own sheet of handmade paper!

Screenprint on STPI 
Merchandise

11am - 5pm � Free 
Free with Purchase of STPI Merchandise

For All Ages � Drop-in-Activity
Get exclusive STPI merchandise 
screenprinted with your selected 

whimsical characters!

Art Talk: Back to Basics 
with Dahlia Osman

12pm & 3pm � 1 Hour  
For All Ages

Free � Onsite Registration
Get back to the fundamentals 
with an interactive sharing on 

printmaking techniques.

Guest Studio

GALLERY

Print with the Pros
1am – 5pm (Last Entry at 4.30pm)

For All Ages
Drop-in-Activity & Demonstrations

An annual Open House special, STPI’s 
Creative Workshop will be open to the 
public to get an exclusive behind-the 
scenes peek at what goes on at our 
Creative Workshop and papermill!

Creative Workshop

Build-A-Character 
Paper Making Workshop

11am, 1pm, 3pm � 1.5 Hour
For Ages 5 and Above

$30 per pax
Register at Information Booth Level 2

Held inside STPI’s Papermill, this 
inventive workshop will let participants 

get an overall exposure to the basic 
concepts of papermaking, relief printing 

and embossing techniques.

Creative Workshop -
Papermill

Roll and Press
Linocut Print Activity

1am - 5pm � Free
For All Ages � Drop-in-Activity

Learn more about relief print through 
linocut printing! Experiment with 

different colours and explore how the 
image is transferred onto a surface.

Design, Carve, Print!
Linocut Workshop

11am, 1pm, 2.30pm, 4pm � 1 Hour
For Ages 12 and Above

$5 per pax � Onsite Registration
Be introduced to the basics of linocut 

carving in this single session workshop. 
Design, carve, print and bring home 

your very own linocut stamp.

PRIVATE ROOMPRIVATE
ROOM

GUEST
STUDIO
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Friends of STPI was launched with the aim of providing support 
to our visiting artist programme. Members and their partner will 
gain exclusive access to the dynamic regional art scene and our 
artists, and a year’s activities that promise unique experiences 
and fresh perspectives. The invaluable support of our members 
play a significant role in bringing in world-class artists and will 
contribute towards the growth of our creative space, as well as 
the cultural development of Singapore.

Total of 10 exclusive FoSTPI events, including:

- Cocktail with Manuel Ocampo at Operation Dagger

- VIP Tour of Art Basel, Basel 

- Art Talk with Massimo Sterpi at STPI Gallery

- High Tea with Melati Suryodarmo at SPRMRKT

- Art Basel Miami Beach dinner at Delano South Beach

FoSTPI

PROGRAMME
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Post-opening VIP dinner at SPRMRKT on 18 January 2019, 
for the exhibition Soo Pieng: Master of Composition

Office Call hosted by Baker McKenzie Wong & Leow –  
viewing works in the collection of Mrs Wong Ai Ai, 31 October 2019

Cocktails with the artist Manuel Ocampo at Operation Dagger, 4 April 2019

Post-opening VIP dinner at Red House on 12 July 
2019, for the exhibition Takashi Murakami: From 
Superflat to Bubblewrap
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Held on 21 September 2019, our Annual Friends Gala Dinner, 
themed Solid Gold, had a full turnout of 160 guests filling 14 
tables in our gallery space. The event was held in conjunction 
with the opening of Pinaree Sanpitak’s solo exhibition at STPI 
Gallery, “Fragmented Bodies: The Personal and the Public”. 

FUNDRAISER 2019: 
Solid Gold
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Printmaking Workshop: “Kaleidos-gold” Guests were invited 
to create prints of intricate gold patterns through stamping, with 
stencils featuring fun, kaleidoscopic elements

Papermaking Workshop: “Gold Rush” Guests could try their hand 
at paper casting in this workshop, where the traditional Chinese 
coin could be created realistically through the medium of paper

The first ever preview of STPI’s full Collector’s Edition of 15th 
Anniversary Prints Produced from 2017 in the STPI Creative 
Workshop to mark fifteen years of celebrated collaborations between 
STPI and its artists, this collection consists of fifteen limited edition 
prints specially made by prominent local and international artists 
for STPI.

Main Course by Burnt Ends’ Chef Dave Pynt Guests treated to 
specially created Beef with Red Curry main course by the award-
winning chef 

Live Auction of 8 artworks and 11 auction experiences, led 
by Jonathan Crockett (Deputy Chairman and Head of 20th 
Century & Contemporary Art, Phillips Auctioneers, Hong Kong) 
Generously donated by our artists and sponsors – including private 
dining experiences at world-class restaurants, and exclusive trips to 
visit artists’ studios overseas

Special Entertainment Segment by Kumar A special moment 
featuring Singaporean entertainer Kumar live at STPI Gallery, ending 
the evening on a high

Dance Floor!

Highlights of the Evening
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STPI’s Annual Friends Gala Dinners are 
organised yearly to raise essential funding, 
in a strong bid to expand our operations 
and further our legacy in the field of 
contemporary art. 

With our not-for-profit status, all of our 
endeavours and achievements to date have 
been secured by the enduring support 
of our ardent followers, collectors and 
stakeholders.

Cultural Matching Fund

All proceeds, including those from the 
benefit auction, are submitted for the 
dollar-for-dollar matching grant under the 
Ministry’s Cultural Matching Fund initiative, 
and will be channeled towards our unique 
artist collaborations.

Tote Board Fund

Tote Board Fund-Raising programme 
supports fundraising events. Upon raising 
the target amount of funds and maintaining 
expenses of not more than 35% of the funds 
raised, STPI is legible for this additional 
funding. A capped amount of $50,000 is 
given upon successful application.
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S.E.A. Focus is a showcase of contemporary art from 
Southeast Asia. It aims to bring together a curated 
selection of some of the finest artists and galleries 
from across the region to foster a deeper appreciation 
of contemporary art and artists in Southeast Asia.

STPI’s focused presentation of acclaimed Southeast 
Asian female artists Melati Suryodarmo and Pinaree 
Sanpitak garnered strong attention, with works 
delving into symbols of nature and humanity and 
bringing relationships between site, body and 
memory to the fore.

S.E.A FOCUS  
2020
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S.E.A Focus 2020 Partners
Supported by:

Instituition partners:

Communication Partner

Ticketing Partners F&B Partners

Media Partner Hospitality partners:

Held in: Held at: Part of:

Digital Partners

Programme partners:

Technical services 
provider

Logistics Partner
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Organised a total of 8 scheduled panel talks, 
and 1 special talk segment featuring renowned 
artistic director of Serpentine Galleries London, 
Hans Ulrich Obrist

SEAspotlight
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Notable media coverage highlights include The 
Straits Times (SG), Lainhe Zaobao (SG), The Art 
Newspaper (UK), CoBo Social (HK), The Bangkok 
Post (TH), 21st Century Business Herald (CN), Artnet 
(US), FT Chinese (CN), Neue Zurcher Zeitung (CH) 
and The Saigoneer (VT)

Media Coverage

At S.E.A. Focus Tent B, Minister for Culture, 
Community and Youth Grace Fu presented the 
opening speech during the Media Reception (right); 
SEAspotlight speakers discussed salient topics in the 
“Local Infrastructures, Global Ecologies” (bottom) 
panel; on 15 and 16 January 2020 respectively.
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Chapter 4 SPECIAL MENTIONS
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Standing, From Left to Right: Clara Chan, Virginie Labbe, Yit Peng Chong, Manisha Sanadhya, Swapna Mirashi, Angie Ng, Cagil Yurdakul Toker, 

Jen Wilson, Darlene Kasten, Deena Goh, Nupur Agarwala Bahadur, Tenzin Dolkar, Erika Cisneros, Anna Watson, Sabine Gebele-Pham 

Seated, From Left to Right: Thet Thet Han, Seema Devitre, Samantha Carle, Akiko Kato, Shireen Wee

Our Docents;
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Genevieve Chua, Pivot Point (detail), 2020
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DONORS/PATRONS STPI is a non-profit organisation that relies on various funding sources for its operations. It is through the generosity of our donors and 
patrons that we are empowered to be one of the leading institutions for contemporary art, committed to the production and presentation 
of innovative artistic works in the mediums of print and papermaking. With their invaluable support, STPI can continue to push the 
boundaries of creative excellence beyond local shores, and become a world-class institution that propels Singapore towards artistic and 
cultural prominence on the international stage.

Filippo Gotti 
Clarissa Wong & Emily Teo 
Emily Teo 
Karen Lorato 
Irene Lee 
Jean Chan 
Suzie Nam 
Angelo Roxas 
James Amberson 
Andrea & Manuela Bille 
Kenneth & Amy Choe 
Rosa Daniel 
Chong Huai Seng 
Dr. Ute Meta Bauer 
Stella Chang 
Richard Eu 
Leong Wah Kheong  
& Tina Cheong 
E-len Fu 
Chong Siak Ching 
Dick van Motman 

The Fanzhi Foundation for Art 
Talenia Phua 
BinjaiTree 
Holywell Foundation Limited 
Richard & Lauren Nijkerk 
Dr. Mary Ann Tsao 
Chen Lifen 
Geoffrey & Ai Ai Wong 
Kanchana Gupta 
Philip Kindt 
Paige Parker and Jim Rogers 
Rachel Teo 
David Zemans 
Benedicta Nordenstahl 
Michael Schleifer 
Victor Chia & Tan Chuan Yong 
Shan Tjio 
Lucia Cordeschi 
Clarinda Tjia-Dharmadi 
Nalin & Sapna Advani 
Michelanglo Samson  

& Lourdes Samson 
Kenneth Tan & Penelope Wong 
David & Catherine Zemans 
Wee Teng Wen - Lo & Behold 
Loh Lik Peng - Unlisted Collection 
Adam & Brittany Levinson 
Nadav LeHavy & Lisa Botos 
Susan Kong 
Irving Low 
Dick & Ida Ng 
Steven Yip & Zoe Kew 
Joseph Wong & Angela Lim 
Aditya Mehta 
Adrien & Marie-Alice Blavier 
Grant & Sofia Coombe 
Pierre Lorinet 
Richard & Zainab Slovenski 
Lee Wen Jun 
Michiel & Tanya Amador 
Cyril Brudy & Ebba Henningson 
Roopa Dewan 

Vivian Chandran 
Nicola Lee 
Poh Joo Ting 
Priya Rath 
Lim Wei Wen 
Lee Hey Kyong 
Sebastian Schaefer & Susanne Weber 
Alex & Yvonne Turnbull 
Zal & Seema Devitre
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DOCENT VOLUNTEERS

STPI’s Docent Programme is supported by docent volunteers from Friends of the Museum 
(FOM). Our longstanding partnership with Friends of the Museum has welcomed passionate and 
enthusiastic individuals, who have become excellent ambassadors for STPI in the arts community. 
The diversity amongst the docent community has also allowed us to reach out to various foreign 
language communities – French, Korean, Japanese and Spanish. Our docents are committed 
to sharing the wonders of print and papermaking, and undergo four months of training to be 
equipped to conduct tours for the public and school groups.

STPI’s Gallery Internship Programme provides a unique platform 
for individuals to gain valuable insight into the different facets of 
gallery programming and operations through supporting various 
departments – Communications, Education & Outreach, Registrar and 
Sales. Depending on current projects and schedules, interns will take 
on various roles and gallery duties, with tasks ranging from managing 
day-to-day gallery operations, research and writing tasks for upcoming 
exhibitions and artist residency projects, to preparing for exhibition 
openings and event set-ups.

(as per 10 February 2020) Starting January 2019 – March 2020INTERNS

Nayli  
Liyanna 
Avendano Kyla Jemuel Nacasas 
Sarah Chan Ee Hui 
Vivian Charlotte 
Gabbi Virk 
Iyan Raihana 
Yvette Lee 
Julia Merican 
Nurshafiqah Bte Zainudin 

Erika Cisneros 
Deena Goh 
Yit Peng Chong 
Anna Watson 
Manisha Sanadhya 
Sabine Gebele-Pham 
Nupur Agarwala Bahadur 
Nishtha Pathak 
Angie Ng 
Cagil Yurdakul Toker 
Clara Chan 
Darlene Kasten 
Jen Wilson 
Swapna Mirashi 
Tenzin Dolkar 
Jane Ong 
Patricia Ugarte 

Samantha Carle 
Maria Conde 
Seema Devitre 
Roopa Dewan 
Durriya Dohadwala 
Alexandra Domart 
Sara Fredaigue 
Ikumi Fushimi 
Madhumita Goswami 
Thet Han 
Maureen Hellspong 
Alka Kapoor 
Akiko Kato 
Ellen Heejin Kim 
Virginie Labbé 
Sarah Lev 
Michiyo Lim 

Grace Angel  
Gale Ella Mae 
Simbulan Alcantara  
Abbygail Chong 
Vanessa Liem 
Madeline Hing 
Gabrielle Chua 
Zhang Ziyi 
Joanne Ng

Yuen Ping Lim 
Krystina Lyon 
Phaik Sim (Pixim) Ooi 
Moni Pang 
Neena Ramaswami 
Vidya Schalk 
Ai Lee Shia 
Sabine Silberstein 
Fiona Silva 
Sue Sismondo 
Jacqueline Thng 
Elissa Viornery 
Justina Vo 
Shireen Hui Ying Wee 
Chee Sing Wong 
Jo Wright 
Jessica Yap
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Jane Lee, Flashback III (detail), 2018
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Chapter 5 CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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Singapore Tyler Print Institute (STPI) was set up on 18 October 2000 as a company 
limited by guarantee under the umbrella of Ministry of Information, Communications 
and the Arts which is now known as Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth. 
STPI was registered under the Charities Act on 22 December 2000. It is also an 
approved Institution of a Public Character (IPC) under Charities Act (Cap 37) ti l l  31 
October 2020.

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2020

Charity Registration Number

Unique Entity Number (UEN)

Registered Address: 

Principal Place of Business:

Governing Board members/trustees:

1482

200008878C

80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, 
Singapore 048624

41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236

1.

2.

3. 

4.

5.

5.2

5.1

Board of Directors

 
1) Mr. Ong Yew Huat 
2) Ms. Chen Huey Rosa 
3) Ms. Chong Siak Ching

Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Chong Siak Ching 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Wong Ai Ai 
Low Irving Chee Whay 
Low Eng Teong

Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Chong Siak Ching 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Low Irving Chee Whay

Low Irving Chee Whay 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Wong Ai Ai 

Name

Name

Name
Chairman 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director 
Director

Chairman 
Member 
Member 
Member

Chairperson 
Member 
Member 

Designation

Designation

Designation
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2019 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2018 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2018 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2018 
Appointed on 19 Oct 2018 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2018

Appointed on 1 Nov 2019 
Reappointed on 1 Nov 2019 
Reappointed on 1 Nov 2019 
Appointed on 1 Nov 2019 

Appointed on 1 Nov 2019 
Reappointed on 19 Oct 2018 
Appointed on 1 Nov 2019 

Date

Date

Date

MCCY is the governing body who authorises the official appointment or reappointment 
of all members of STPI Board of Directors. The current Board was appointed on 19 Oct 
2018 for a three-year term ending 18 Oct 2021. The appointment for Ong Yew Huat ceased 
on 18 Oct 2019. Susan Kong Yim Pui has been appointed as Chairman on 19 Oct 2019.

Directors in office (as at date of this report) are as follows:

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE Executive Committee

Audit Committee

The EXCO assist the Board in the stewardship and oversight of STPI. The EXCO 
is working closely with the STPI’s management, reviews STPI’s operations and 
supervises its financial matters. This entails endorsing and monitoring financial 
budgets and guidelines, as well as reporting to the Board on any financial 
irregularities and concerns.

EXCO members (as at date of this report) are as follows:

The Audit Committee (AC) assists the Board in STPI board in fulfilling its 
responsibilities by providing an independent review of the financial reporting 
as well as overseeing the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, and 
financial statements.  In addition, the AC is also tasked to review and approve 
STPI’s adequacy and effectiveness of enterprise risk management framework 
and the quality of risk mitigation and control plans for all areas of risk identified 
by management.  Where appropriate, the AC will make recommendations to the 
Board on areas of improvement and supervise the management in furnishing 
periodic reports to the Board on its risk management action plans.

Existing AC members (as at date of this report) are as follows:

5.4

5.3
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Directors’ Attendance5.5

Susan Kong Yim Pui

Chong Siak Ching

Kenneth Whye Choe 

Mrs Wong Ai Ai

Low Irving Chee Whay

Low Eng Teong  

 

Ong Yew Huat

19 Oct ‘07 (Member) 

19 Oct ‘19 (Chairman) 

01 Apr ‘13

19 Oct ‘15

19 Oct ‘15

19 Oct ‘18

03 Jan ‘18 

 

19 Oct ‘03 (Member) 

19 Oct ‘09 (Chairman)

19 Oct ‘19 

 

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘18

-

19 Oct ‘18

19 Oct ‘18

- 

 

-

-

-

-

-

18 Oct ‘19

4 

 

4

4

4

4

4

2

4 

 

4

4

-

1

-

2

2 

 

-

3

1

3

-

-

4 

 

3

4

3

3

4

2

4 

 

3

4

-

1

-

2

2 

 

-

3

1

3

-

-

Name Date of First 
appointment  
of Committee 

Date of Last  
Re-appointment

Date of Cessation Board

Held Held HeldAttended Attended Attended

Exco AC
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Accumulated Surplus & Reserve Policy

STPI’s accumulated surplus comprises General fund (“GF”) and Technology and 
Development fund (“TDF”).  

Surplus reserve is part of the STPI’s income funds that is freely available for its 
operating purposes. Over time, there could be cumulative surplus reserves being 
built up when grant and operating revenues exceed the STPI’s annual expenditure. 
The purpose of the cumulative surplus is to ensure adequate reserve for long-term 
financial sustainability and to meet unexpected funding needs.

According to STPI’s Reserve Policy, STPI targets to accumulate $20 million in 
the GF. This represents around 2.5 to 3 years’ worth of operating expenditures. 
Reserves needed to meet immediate operating needs shall be placed in current 
accounts with local financial institution.

Excess reserves beyond immediate needs are to be placed in short-term bank 
deposits in MAS approved financial institutions with good credit rating. More than 
50% of these reserves must be deposited in local financial institution.

11

Disclosure and Transparency  

Remuneration of the top three key staff for the financial year ended 31 March 
2020 is tabled below. 

Remuneration comprises basic salaries, annual wage supplements, bonuses and 
contributions to Central Provident Fund. 

During the year, none of the 3 highest paid staff serves as a governing board 
member. There is also no paid staff being a close member of the family belonging 
to the Executive Head or a governing board member of STPI.

12

$200,000 to below $300,000

Renumeration Range

1

Number of staff

$100,000 to below $200,000 2

Principal Bank:  
DBS Bank Limited

External Auditors:  
Deloitte and Touche LLP

Objective

Policies

STPI seeks to develop Singapore as a leading player in the contemporary art 
world by collaborating with top international artists in unique, ground-breaking  
projects. Through its artist collaborations, artworks, exhibitions and public 
programmes, STPI engages both international and local art communities with the 
aim of inspiring and developing an appreciation of print and paper art practice. 

Finance & Funding 
STPI is  partly funded by the Ministry of Culture, Community and Youth; 
sponsorships and donations received from corporations/individuals; and receipts 
from the sales of Art Works created in STPI in collaboration with visiting artists.

6

7

8

9

Review of year-ended 31 March 2020

A) Staffing as at 31 March 2020 – 32 staff

B) The donation/sponsored received during the financial year amounted to $730,705 
(2018: $645,411).  Of which, $488,580 (2018: $523,396) are tax deductible donation.

• Singaporean & PR – 29  
• Foreigner – 3

10
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Conflict of Interest

Future Plans and Commitments

Whistleblowing Policy

STPI’s Memorandum and Articles of Association requires disclosure of interests in 
transactions or proposed transactions which might create duties or interests in 
conflict with his duties and interests as a Director. A Director shall not be entitled 
to vote on the matter and not be taken into an account in ascertaining whether a 
quorum is present. 

STPI has put in place a Conflict of Interest Policy.

STPI continues to work with well-known international artists to create works with 
paper and print technique in the workshop. The continued effort to work with 
world renowned artists will enhance STPI’s position as a creative workshop and 
gallery while putting Singapore on the international map. STPI is reaching out to 
the other parts of the world by participating in Art fairs in Europe, United States 
of America and North Asia.

STPI has put in place a Whistleblowing Policy. Any person may report any allegations 
of suspected misconduct that may adversely impact STPI, STPI’s stakeholders, 
STPI’s employees, or the public at large. Employees can report such allegations to 
their superior or to Chairman, STPI Board of Directors. Non-employees can report 
to the Chairman.

13

14

15
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

1 
 
 

 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
 
 
 
The directors present their statement together with the audited financial statements of Singapore Tyler Print 
Institute (the “Institute”) for the financial year ended March 31, 2020. 
 
In the opinion of the directors, 
 
a) the accompanying financial statements as set out on pages 6 to 31 are drawn up in accordance with 

the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), Singapore Charities Act, 
Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Institute as at March 31, 2020 and the financial 
performance, changes in accumulated surplus and cash flows of the Institute for the financial year 
then ended; 

 
b) the donation money have been used in accordance with the objectives of the Institute as required 

under Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; 
 
c) the Institute has complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 (Fund-raising expense) of the 

Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; 
 
d) the accounting and other records required by the Act have been properly kept in accordance with the 

provisions of the Act; and 
 
e) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Institute will be able 

to pay its debts when they fall due. 
 
 
1 DIRECTORS 

 
The directors of the Institute in office at the date of this statement are: 
 
Susan Kong Yim Pui 
Kenneth Whye Choe 
Tang Ai Ai (Mrs Wong Ai Ai) 
Chong Siak Ching 
Low Eng Teong 
Low Irving Chee Whay   
 
 

2 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES 
 
As the Institute is limited by guarantee, the Board of Directors do not consider it necessary to 
report on the matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6)(f) and (g); Section 201(6A), (g) and  
(h); Section 201(11) and Section 201(12) of the Singapore Companies Act.  
 
 
  

 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

2 
 
 

 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
 
 
 
3 AUDITORS 

 
The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
............................................ 
Susan Kong Yim Pui 
 
 
 
 
 
 
............................................ 
Low Irving Chee Whay 
 
 
 
August 17, 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Singapore Tyler Print Institute (the “Institute”), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in accumulated surplus and statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, as set out on pages 6 to 31.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) 
and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Institute as at March 31, 2020 and of the financial performance, changes in accumulated 
surplus and cash flows of the Institute for the year ended on that date. 
 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Institute in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ Statement 
set out on pages 1 to 2. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,  
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Charities Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a 
system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and 
that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to 
maintain accountability of assets.  
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Institute’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Institute or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Institute’s financial reporting process. 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Institute’s internal control. 

 
c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE
(A company limited by guarantee)

d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Institute’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Institute to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Institute have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act, and the Charities Act.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the
year:

a. The Institute has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under
Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Charter) Regulations; and

b. The Institute has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of
a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

August 17, 2020

 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
March 31, 2020 
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
Accumulated surplus    
General fund  7,468,992 6,634,601 
Technology and Development fund 6 2,608,176 2,608,176 
  10,077,168 9,242,777 
    
    
Represented by:    
    
Non-current asset    
Plant and equipment 7 767,466 906,930 
    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 8 12,820,781 11,634,663 
Trade and other receivables 9 825,798 1,612,307 
Total current assets  13,646,579 13,246,970 
    
Total assets  14,414,045 14,153,900 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 10 1,516,568 2,333,386 
Deferred grants 11 737,328 301,180 
Total current liabilities  2,253,896 2,634,566 
    
Non-current liability    
Deferred grants 11 2,082,981 2,276,557 
    
Net assets  10,077,168 9,242,777 
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
Income 12 5,181,426 3,970,895 
    
Expenditure:    
    
Employee benefits expense 13 (2,663,013) (2,213,699) 
    
Depreciation expense 7 (351,834) (368,470) 
    
Other operating expenses 14 (5,846,981) (5,490,893) 
    
Deficit before income tax and grants  (3,680,402)               (4,102,167) 
    
Income tax 15 - - 
    
Deficit after income tax but before grants  (3,680,402) (4,102,167) 
    
    
Grants:    
    
Grants from government 16 3,437,062 3,532,768 
    
Deemed grant income to match the fair value    

of the rental expense 18 796,080 796,080 
    
Deferred capital grants amortised 11 281,651 258,770 
  4,514,793 4,587,618 
    
Surplus for the year, representing total    

comprehensive income for the year 17 834,391 485,451 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED SURPLUS 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
 
 
 Accumulated surplus 
    

 
General  

fund 

Technology 
and 

development 
fund Total 

 $ $ $ 
    
Balance at April 1, 2018 6,149,150 2,608,176 8,757,326 
    
Surplus for the year, representing total    

comprehensive income for the year  485,451 - 485,451 
    
Balance at March 31, 2019 6,634,601 2,608,176 9,242,777 
    
Surplus for the year, representing total    

comprehensive income for the year 834,391 - 834,391 
    
Balance at March 31, 2020 7,468,992 2,608,176 10,077,168 
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SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
 
 
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
Operating activities   

Deficit before income tax and grants (3,680,402) (4,102,167) 
Adjustments for:   

Deemed rental expense 796,080 796,080 
Depreciation expense 351,834 368,470 
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment 781 - 
Interest income (96,479) (83,213) 

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (2,628,186) (3,020,830) 
   

Trade and other receivables (166,743) (296,906) 
Trade and other payables (816,818) 960,095 

Cash used in operations (3,611,747) (2,357,641) 
   

Interest received 79,684 107,310 
Net cash used in operating activities (3,532,063) (2,250,331) 
   
Investing activity   

Purchase of plant and equipment, representing   
net cash used in investing activity (213,151) (57,904) 

   
Financing activity   

Grants received, representing   
net cash from financing activity (Note A) 4,931,332 3,314,118 

   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,186,118 1,005,883 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 11,634,663 10,628,780 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (Note 8) 12,820,781 11,634,663 
 
 
Note to statement of cash flows 
 
A) There is no cash movement arising from deemed grant income to match the fair value of rental 

expenses of $796,080 (2019 : $796,080). 
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1 GENERAL 
 
The Institute (Registration No. 200008878C) is incorporated in Singapore as a company limited by 
guarantee under the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 with its principal place of business at  
41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236 and registered office at 80 Raffles Place, #32-01 UOB Plaza 1, 
Singapore 048624. It is also subject to the provisions of the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37. 
 
Each member of the Institute undertakes to contribute such amounts not exceeding $1 to the assets 
of the Institute in the event that the Institute is wound up and the monies are required for payment 
of the liabilities of the Institute. The Institute has three members at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The principal activities of the Institute are to promote interest and appreciation of art in Singapore, 
and the study and research into the art of printmaking and its history, techniques, skills and processes. 
 
Previously, the Institute received operating grants from the Ministry of Information, Communication 
and the Arts (“MICA”) through the National Arts Council (“NAC”) who is required by MICA to assist in 
managing the funding requirements of the Institute. As such, any unutilised funds as at the end of  
the financial year are recorded in the books of NAC. Since April 1, 2002, MICA had funded through 
NAC actual operating deficits of the workshop and the general administration components.  
On November 1, 2012, the Institute’s parent Ministry was changed from MICA to the Ministry of 
Culture, Community and Youth (“MCCY”). 
 
As requested by MICA previously, National Heritage Board (“NHB”) took over the premises at  
41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236, being the principal place of business for the Institute,  
from the Singapore Land Authority through a tenancy agreement. Upon completion of renovation 
works funded by MICA, NHB previously rented out the premises to the Institute through a sub-lease 
agreement at a nominal rate of $1 per annum. The renovation costs of these premises were capitalised 
in the financial statements of NHB. 
 
In 2015, the MCCY took over the premises at 41 Robertson Quay, Singapore 238236 and rented out 
the premises to the Institute through a tenancy agreement. 
 
The financial statements of the Institute for the year ended March 31, 2020 were authorised for issue 
by the Board of Directors on August 17, 2020. 
 
 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Singapore Charities Act, Cap. 37 and 
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”). 
 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services. 
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, the Institute takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which 
market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these financial statements is 
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope 
of FRS 102 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17 Leases, 
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net 
realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets. 
 
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into levels 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 
 
• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the entity can access at the measurement date; 
 
• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 

for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 
 
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
 
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On April 1, 2019, the Institute adopted all the new 
and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are 
relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in 
changes to the Institute’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for 
the current or prior years except as disclosed below. 
 
 
FRS 116 Leases 
 
FRS 116 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces 
significant changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance 
lease and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for 
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets when such recognition 
exemptions are adopted. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have 
remained largely unchanged. The impact of the adoption of FRS 116 on the Institute’s financial 
statements is described below. 
 
The date of initial application of FRS 116 for the Institute is April 1, 2019. 
 
The Institute has applied FRS 116 using the cumulative catch-up approach which: 
 
• requires the Institute to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying FRS 116 as an 

adjustment to opening balance of retained earnings at the date of initial application; and 
 
• does not permit restatement of comparatives, which continue to be presented under FRS 17 and 

INT FRS 104. 
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Impact of the new definition of a lease 
 
The Institute has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to FRS 116 not to reassess 
whether a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with  
FRS 17 and INT FRS 104 will continue to be applied to those leases entered or changed before  
April 1, 2019. 
 
The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. FRS 116 determines 
whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the 
use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast to the 
focus on 'risks and rewards' in FRS 17 and INT FRS 104. 
 
The Institute applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in FRS 116 to all lease 
contracts entered into or modified on or after April 1, 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the 
lease contract). The new definition in FRS 116 does not significantly change the scope of contracts 
that meet the definition of a lease for the Institute. 
 
 
Impact on lessee accounting 
 
Former operating leases 
 
FRS 116 changes how the Institute accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under 
FRS 17, which were off-balance-sheet. 
 
Applying FRS 116, for all leases, the Institute: 
 
a) Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statements of financial position,  

initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, with the right-of-use 
asset adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments in accordance with  
FRS 116.C8(b)(ii); 

 
b) Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement 

of profit or loss; and 
 
c) Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) 

and interest (presented within operating activities) in the statement of cash flows. 
 
Lease incentives are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and  
lease liabilities whereas under FRS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive liability, 
amortised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis. 
 
Under FRS 116, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with FRS 36 Impairment 
of Assets. 
 
For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets, the Institute 
has opted to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by FRS 116. This expense 
is presented within other operating expenses in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
  

ANNEXSTPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020



 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 
 

13 
 
 

 

Impact on lessor accounting 
 
FRS 116 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under FRS 116, a lessor 
continues to classify leases as either finance leases or operating leases and account for those two 
types of leases differently. 
 
However, FRS 116 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular regarding how a 
lessor manages the risks arising from its residual interest in leased assets. 
 
 
Financial impact of initial application of FRS 116 
 
There is no material financial impact arising from the adoption of FRS 116 on the Institute’s financial 
statements as at April 1, 2019. 
 
The lease of office premise under operating lease agreements amounts to $796,080. As the lease is 
fully covered under rental subvention by MCCY, no consideration is made by STPI in respect of the 
lease. Accordingly, no lease liability is recognised as at April 1, 2019.  
 
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or 
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial assets. 
 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement 
of financial position when the Institute becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to 
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets and financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. 
 
 
Classification of financial assets 
 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost: 
 
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 
• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
 
Amortised cost and effective interest method 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and 
of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 
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For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the debt 
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt 
instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,  
a credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, 
including expected credit losses, to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for 
any loss allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised 
cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 
 
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently 
at amortised cost, except for short-term balances when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
 
The Institute recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade and other 
receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting 
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 
 
The Institute always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected 
credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Institute’s 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
For all other financial instruments, the Institute recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the credit risk on the 
financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Institute measures the 
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. The assessment of 
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of 
a default occurring since initial recognition instead of on evidence of a financial asset being  
credit-impaired at the reporting date or an actual default occurring. 
 
 
Significant increase in credit risk 
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Institute compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial 
recognition. In making this assessment, the Institute considers historical loss rates for each category 
of customers and adjusts to reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the 
ability of the customers to settle the receivables.  
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The Institute presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Institute has 
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 
 
The Institute assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting 
date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument has a 
low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations 
in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term 
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 
obligations. 
 
The Institute regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria 
are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 
 
 
Definition of default 
 
The Institute considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due 
unless the Institute has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate. 
 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
 
 
Write-off policy 
 
The Institute writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is 
in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade 
receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets 
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Institute’s recovery procedures, 
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
 
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 
 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual 
cash flows that are due to the Institute in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Institute expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 
If the Institute has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the 
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Institute measures the loss allowance at an amount 
equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date. 
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Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Institute derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another party. If the Institute neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Institute 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. 
 
If the Institute retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Institute continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective interest method, except for short-term balances when the effect of discounting 
is immaterial. 
 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Institute derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Institute’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire. 
 
 
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method, on the following bases: 
 
Computers    - 33.33% 
Office and printing equipment - 12.5% to 16.67% 
Furniture and fittings  - 12.5% 
Renovation    - 33.33% 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, 
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined 
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised 
in income or loss. 
 
Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements. 
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IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Institute reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible 
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Institute estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value 
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
 
PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Institute has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Institute will be required to settle that obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
 
Leases (before April 1, 2019) 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
 
The Institute as lessee 
 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern 
in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. 
 
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
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The Institute as lessor 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit 
derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense 
over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. 
 
 
Leases (from April 1, 2019) 
 
The Institute as lessee 
 
The Institute assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract.  
The Institute recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all 
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a 
lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Institute 
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Institute uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee. 
 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 
• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; 
 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate at the commencement date; 
 
• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
 
• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

and 
 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 

option to terminate the lease. 
 
The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect 
the lease payments made. 
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The Institute remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use asset) whenever: 
 
• the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 

in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate; or 
 

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting 
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is 
due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or 
 

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 
in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.   
 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability,  
lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and 
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 
 
Whenever the Institute incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,  
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under FRS 37. To the extent 
that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, 
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 
underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Institute expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset 
is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of the lease. 
 
The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. 
 
The Institute applies FRS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for 
any identified impairment loss. 
 
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the 
lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in the line 
‘Other operating expenses’ in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
As a practical expedient, FRS 116 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead 
account for any lease and associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Institute 
has not used this practical expedient. For a contracts that contain a lease component and one or more 
additional lease or non-lease components, the Institute allocates the consideration in the contract to 
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the 
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. 
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The Institute as lessor 
 
The Institute enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to sub-letting part of its existing 
premises for the operation of an independent restaurant and gallery space to third parties for 
exhibitions and functions. 
 
Leases for which the Institute is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the 
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee,  
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
 
GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Institute 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. Government grants 
whose primary condition is that the Institute should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire  
non-current assets are recognised as deferred capital grants in the statement of financial position and 
transferred to income or expenditure on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the 
related assets. 
 
Other grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for 
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants that are receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the institute with no future related costs are recognised in income or expenditure in the 
period in which they become receivable. 
 
 
REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Institute recognises 
revenue when it transfers control of a product or service to a customer. 
 
 
Sale of goods 
 
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when control of the artworks is transferred to the customer. 
The Institute considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate performance 
obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated.  
 
 
Rendering of services 
 
Revenue for services rendered over a short duration are recognised when the services are completed. 
 
 
Contributions and donations 
 
Contributions and donations are recognised as income when received from donors and sponsors in the 
financial year. 
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Interest income 
 
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable. 
 
 
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes,  
such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution 
plans and are charged as an expense as they fall due. 
 
 
EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they 
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period. 
 
 
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of the Institute are measured and 
presented in Singapore dollars which is the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the Institute operates (its functional currency). 
 
Transactions in currencies other than the Institute’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of 
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At end of the reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting 
period. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated. All exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
 

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 
In the application of the Institute’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 
 
 
Critical judgements in applying the Institute’s accounting policies 
 
Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgement are not expected to have 
a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below: 
 
(a) Impairment of plant and equipment 

 
At the end of each reporting period, management assesses the carrying amount of the Institute’s 
plant and equipment to determine whether there are any indications of impairment for which an 
allowance is required. Management has concluded that there is no indication of impairment. 
The carrying amount of the Institute’s plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 7. 
 
 

(b) Accounting for grants 
 
Deferred capital grants 
 
Management has accounted for the government grants used for the purchase of depreciable 
assets to the “Deferred capital grants account” upon the utilisation of the grants for purchase of 
assets, which are capitalised, or to profit or loss for purchase of assets which are written off in 
the year of purchase. Deferred capital grants are recognised in profit or loss over the periods 
necessary to match the depreciation, write off and/or impairment loss of the assets purchased 
with the related grants. Upon the disposal of plant and equipment, the balance of the related 
deferred capital grants is recognised in profit or loss to match the carrying amount of the plant 
and equipment written off.  
 
 
Deferred expenditure grants 
 
Grants to meet the current year’s operating expenses are recognised as income in the same 
year. Management has accounted grants on an accrual basis.  
 
 

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
(a) Categories of financial instruments 

 
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period: 
 

   2020 2019 
   $ $ 
  Financial assets   
     
  Amortised cost 13,521,144 13,167,198 
     
     
  Financial liabilities   
     
  Amortised cost 1,394,837 2,127,484 
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(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives 
 
Management of the Institute monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations 
of the Institute to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective 
manner. These risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk),  
credit risk and liquidity risk. There has been no change to the Institute’s exposure to these 
financial risks or the manner in which it measures and manages the risks. The risks associated 
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 
 
 
i) Foreign exchange risk 

 
The Institute has limited exposure to foreign currency exchange risk as its operations are 
mainly transacted in Singapore dollars. 
 
No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Institute does not expect any material effect on 
the Institute’s income or expenditure arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes 
to foreign exchange rates on financial instruments at the end of the reporting period. 
 
 

ii) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk faced by the Institute as a result of fluctuation in interest 
rates. The Institute is not exposed to interest rate risks as the Institute’s interest-bearing 
financial asset only comprise of cash and bank balances which are subjected to insignificant 
risk of changes in value as they are short-term in nature. The Institute does not have any 
interest-bearing financial liabilities. 
 
No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Institute does not expect any material effect on 
the Institute’s income or expenditure arising from the effects of reasonably possible 
charges to interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end of the 
reporting period. 
 
 

iii) Credit risk 
 
The Institute develops and maintains its credit risk gradings to categorise exposures 
according to their degree of risk of default. The Institute uses its own trading records to 
rate its major customers and other debtors. 
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The Institute’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories: 
 
Category  Description  Basis for 

recognising  
expected credit 
losses (ECL)  
 

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default 
and does not have any past-due 
amounts.  
 

12-month ECL  

Doubtful  Amount is > 30 days past due or there 
has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition.  
 

Lifetime ECL -  
not credit-impaired  

In default  Amount is > 30 days past due or there is 
evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired.  
 

Lifetime ECL -  
credit-impaired  

Write-off  There is evidence indicating that the 
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and 
the group has no realistic prospect of 
recovery.  
 

Amount is written off  

 
 
The Institute has no significant concentrations of credit risk except for amount due from 
MCCY. The Institute has policies in place to ensure that sale of artworks are made to 
customers with appropriate credit history. Management regularly monitors the recoverability 
of receivables and ensures that irrecoverable debts are adequately provided for. 
 
The carrying amount of the financial assets presented in the statement of financial position 
represents the Institute’s maximum exposure to credit risks. 
 
 

iv) Liquidity risk 
 
The Institute has minimal exposure to liquidity risk as its operations are mainly funded by 
government grants, donations and sale of artworks. 
 
All financial assets and financial liabilities in 2020 and 2019 are either repayable on 
demand or due within 1 year from the end of the reporting period. 
 
 

v) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 
 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the statement 
of financial position approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively  
short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 
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(c) Capital management policies and objectives 
 
The Institute reviews its capital structure at least annually to ensure that the Institute will be able 
to continue as a going concern. The capital structure of the Institute comprises accumulated surplus 
and grants from government. The Institute’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2019. 
 
 

5 OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Some of the Institute’s transactions and arrangements are with a related party and the effect of these 
on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.  
 
During the year, the Institute entered into the following transactions with a related party: 
 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
 With a related party:   
    
 Sale of artwork 43,675 70,504 

 
 
Compensation of directors and key management personnel 
 
The remuneration of key management personnel during the year are as follows: 
 
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
   
Short-term benefits 304,768 297,587 
Post-employment benefits 17,340 17,340 
 322,108 314,927 
 
 
There were no remuneration paid to directors of the Institute during the year. 
 
 

6 TECHNOLOGY AND DEVELOPMENT FUND 
 
The Technology and Development Fund was set up for the purpose of helping the Institute to achieve 
continued excellence in its printing techniques and technology. 
 
 
  

 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 
 

26 
 
 

 

7 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
    Office and   
    printing Furniture  
  Renovation Computers equipment and fittings Total 
  $ $ $ $ $ 
 Cost:      
    At April 1, 2018 252,641 355,137 7,547,881 2,090,211 10,245,870 
    Additions - 10,382 24,750 22,772 57,904 
    Disposal - - (88,271) - (88,271) 
    At March 31, 2019 252,641 365,519 7,484,360 2,112,983 10,215,503 
    Additions - 39,949 173,202 - 213,151 
    Disposal - (1,278) (32,943) - (34,221) 
    At March 31, 2020 252,641 404,190 7,624,619 2,112,983 10,394,433 
       

 
Accumulated  
   depreciation:      

    At April 1, 2018 141,416 332,312 7,383,803 1,170,843 9,028,374 
    Depreciation 77,346 13,588 35,189 242,347 368,470 
    Disposal - - (88,271) - (88,271) 
    At March 31, 2019 218,762 345,900 7,330,721 1,413,190 9,308,573 
    Depreciation 33,879 21,487 52,989 243,479 351,834 
    Disposal - (497) (32,943) - (33,440) 
    At March 31, 2020 252,641 366,890 7,350,767 1,656,669 9,626,967 
       
 Carrying amount:      
    At March 31, 2020 - 37,300 273,852 456,314 767,466 
       
    At March 31, 2019 33,879 19,619 153,639 699,793 906,930 

 
 

8 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
 Cash at bank 7,252,917 6,148,297 
 Fixed deposits 5,564,856 5,485,172 
 Cash on hand 3,008 1,194 
  12,820,781 11,634,663 

 
 
Fixed deposits bear interest at an average rate of 1.76% (2019 : 1.31%) per annum and are due 
within 1 to 11 months (2019 : 6 to 12 months) from the end of reporting period. The fixed deposits 
can be converted into cash at short notice and with no or minimal charges. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the functional currency of the Institute. 
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9 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
 Trade receivables 361,195 239,355 
 Other receivables 3,222 10,022 
 Amount due from MCCY 108,007 1,067,682 
 Grant receivable 136,276 146,648 
 Interest receivables 55,913 39,118 
 Deposit 35,750 29,710 
 Prepayments 101,742 22,446 
 GST receivable 23,693 57,326 
  825,798 1,612,307 

 
 
The receivable from MCCY in 2020 and 2019 arose in connection with government grants for specific 
development initiatives received by MCCY on behalf of the Institute. 
 
Loss allowance for trade receivables has been measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses (ECL). The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past 
default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for 
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which the 
debtors operate. The Institute has recognised a loss allowance of 100% against all receivables over 
120 days past due because historical experience has indicated that these receivables are generally not 
recoverable.  
 
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period.  
 
A trade receivable is written off when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. 
 
 

10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
 Trade payables to outside parties 266,835 200,280 
 Upfront payment from customers 121,731 205,902 
 Refundable deposits 43,656 43,656 
 Accruals 1,010,921 1,806,018 
 Others 73,425 77,530 
  1,516,568 2,333,386 

 
 
The credit period is 30 to 60 days (2019: 30 to 60 days). No interest is charged on overdue balances. 
The balances are denominated in the functional currency of the Institute.  
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11 DEFERRED GRANTS 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
 Beginning of year 2,577,737 2,012,202 
 Grants received during the year:   
    Capital expenditure - 19,153 
    Expenditure grant 829,801 988,580 
 Amortisation for the year:    

    Deferred capital grant (281,651) (258,770) 
    Grants from government (183,594) (87,091) 
    Other grant (121,984) (96,337) 

 End of year 2,820,309 2,577,737 
 Less: Current portion (737,328) (301,180) 
 Non-current portion 2,082,981 2,276,557 

 
 

12 INCOME 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
 Type of revenue   
    
 Sale of artworks 2,977,257 2,461,407 
 Contributions and donations 730,705 645,411 
 Consignment income 225,452 245,102 
 Others 794,429 329,281 
  4,727,843 3,681,201 
    
 Other operating income*   
 Rental income 357,104 206,481 
 Interest income 96,479 83,213 
  5,181,426 3,970,895 

 
 
* Noted that these streams of revenue do not fall under the scope of FRS 115 Revenue of Contracts 

with Customers. 
 
Timing of revenue recognition: 
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 
   
At a point in time 4,727,843 3,681,201 
 
 
During the year, the donations received of $488,580 (2019 : $523,396) are tax-exempt. 
 
There are $121,731 (2019 : $205,902) unsatisfied performance obligation as at the end of the 
reporting period. 
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13 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 
  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
 Costs of defined contribution plans included   
    in employee benefits expense 340,999 209,488 

 
 

14 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 
 
The major components include the following: 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
 Deemed rental expenses 796,080 796,080 
 Art fairs and exhibition expenses 2,569,432 2,297,511 
 Supplies and materials 861,177 758,101 

 
 

15 INCOME TAX 
 
The Institute has been granted tax exempt status as a charitable institution under Section 13(1)(zm) 
of the Singapore Income Tax Act, Cap. 134. 
 
 

16 GRANTS FROM GOVERNMENT 
 
This represents operating grants received from the MCCY since November 1, 2011 to fund the 
operation of the Institute. Prior to November 1, 2011, the grants were received from the MICA. 
The operating grants were released to the NAC which disbursed the funds to the Institute. 
 
 

17 SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 
 
Surplus for the year has been arrived at after charging: 

  2020 2019 
  $ $ 
    
 Cost of consigned/artist’s artwork 377,455 456,141 
 Deemed rental expense 796,080 796,080 
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18 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Institute as lessee 
 
At March 31, 2020, the Institute is committed to S$17,520 for short term leases. 
 
As mentioned in Note 1, the Institute currently rents its existing premises from MCCY through a  
sub-lease agreement for the period from August 1, 2017 to July 31, 2020.  
 
Management has adopted the Annual Value of the property determined by Inland Revenue Authority 
of Singapore as the market value of rental of premises at the end of the reporting period. Changes in 
the economic conditions of the property market in Singapore could impact the future fair values of the 
premises and as a result, the rental of premises could be revised. As at March 31, 2020, management is 
of the opinion that rental of premises recorded in income or expenditure approximates its market 
value. Accordingly, an amount of $796,080 (2019 : $796,080) has been recognised as deemed rental 
expense and deemed grant income. 
 
 
The Institute as lessor 
 
(Disclosure required under FRS 116) 
 
Operating leases, in which the Institute is the lessor, relate to the sub-letting of its existing premises 
for the operation of an independent restaurant and gallery space to third party for exhibitions and 
functions with lease terms of less than 1 year. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the 
premises at the expiry of the lease period. 
 
Maturity analysis of operating lease payments: 

   2020 
   $ 
    
 Year 1  54,400 

 
 
(Disclosure required under FRS 17) 
 
The Institute derives income from sub-letting part of its existing premises for the operation of an 
independent restaurant and gallery space to third parties for exhibitions and functions. 
 
Rental income earned during the financial year ended March 31, 2019 was $206,481. At the end of 
the reporting period, the Institute has contracted with its tenant for the following future minimum 
lease payments: 

   2019 
   $ 
    
 Within one year  163,200 
 In the second to fifth year inclusive  27,200 
   190,400 

 
 
Leases are negotiated for an average term of two years. 
 
  

STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020STPI Creative Workshop & Gallery Annual Report 2019/ 2020 ANNEX



 
 
 
SINGAPORE TYLER PRINT INSTITUTE 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 
 

31 
 
 

 

19 SURPLUS TRANSFER 
 
Institute’s accumulated surplus comprises General fund (“GF”) and Technology and Development fund 
(“TDF”).  
 
Surplus reserve is part of the Institute’s income funds that is freely available for its operating purposes. 
Over time, there could be cumulative surplus reserves being built up when grant and operating 
revenues exceed the Institute’s annual expenditure. The purpose of the cumulative surplus is to ensure 
adequate reserve for long-term financial sustainability and to meet unexpected funding needs.  
 
Funds are placed in short-term bank deposits with financial institutions which have good credit rating. 
The accumulated surplus together with the interest income generated can be drawn upon for operating 
purposes such as to fund any deficit or the Board can designate funds to be used for non-operating 
purposes.  
 
The Board of Directors agreed by resolution since 2007 that all future surpluses shall be transferred 
to the GF and the TDF in the ratio of 70% and 30% respectively.  
 
On October 31, 2017, the Board of Directors agreed by resolution effective from financial year ended 
March 31, 2018, that all future surpluses shall be transferred to the GF. Any future transfer to the TDF 
will be made on a discretionary basis. 
 
 

20 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 
 
The outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in early 2020 has caused disruptions to many 
industries globally. Despite the challenges, governments and international organisations have 
implemented a series of measures to contain the pandemic. Specifically, many countries have imposed 
entry restrictions and border closures, bringing global air travel to a virtual standstill. 
 
The Singapore Multi-Ministry Taskforce implemented an elevated set of safe distancing measures as a 
circuit breaker from April 7, 2020, to pre-empt the trend of increasing local transmission of  
COVID-19. Except for those providing essential services and selected economic sectors which are 
critical for our local and the global supply chains, all businesses are required to suspend all in-person 
activities and activities at the business location. The Institute was not considered an essential services 
and business was suspended from April 7, 2020 to June 18, 2020. 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak is an event that occurred during the Institute’s financial reporting period and 
the impact of COVID-19 outbreak on the Institute’s assets and liabilities have been assessed and 
recognised in the financial statements as at March 31, 2020. 
 
Subsequent to the financial year ended and as at the date of the report, management has also 
assessed the reasonably expected impact of COVID-19. 
 
The Institute will closely monitor the development of the pandemic and assess its impact on its 
operations continuously. Notwithstanding this, management has assessed that the Institute is still able 
to maintain sufficient liquidity to enable the Institute to continue as a going concern for at least the 
next 12 months from the date of the financial statements. 
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